| N THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTO<br>DIVISION TWO  |  |  |
|---|--|--|
|   |  |  |
| STATE OF WASHINGTON,  |  |  |
| Respondent,   |  |  |
| V.  |  |  |
| MANUEL ANTONIO GONZALES,  |  |  |
| Appellant.  |  |  |
| ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR PIERCE COUNTY  The Honorable Elizabeth Martin, Judge |  |  |
| BRIEF OF APPELLANT  |  |  |
|   |  |  |

DAVID B. KOCH Attorney for Appellant

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC 1908 E Madison Street Seattle, WA 98122

### **

#### A. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

The sentencing court erred when it treated the \$200 criminal filing fee as a mandatory legal financial obligation (LFO).

#### Issue Pertaining to Assignment of Error

At sentencing, based on appellant's established indigence, the court waived all discretionary LFOs. While recognizing the \$200 criminal filing fee arguably was discretionary, the court assumed it was mandatory and ordered appellant to pay it. Did the sentencing court err?

#### B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Pierce County Prosecutor's Office charged Manuel Gonzales with two counts of Assault in the Third Degree and one count each of Obstructing a Law Enforcement Officer, Resisting Arrest, and Bail Jumping. CP 5-7. A jury acquitted Gonzales of both assaults and convicted him on the remaining charges. CP 34-38.

At sentencing, the State asked the court to impose several LFOs for the bail jumping conviction: a \$500 crime victim penalty assessment, a \$100 DNA database fee, a \$200 filing fee, and \$1,500 for the cost of appointed counsel. RP<sup>1</sup> 3.

RP refers to the verbatim report of proceedings for sentencing on November 12, 2015.

Defense counsel explained that, as a result of the charges in this case, Gonzales had lost his job as a janitor. RP 5. He had no sources of income and no means to pay for the services of appointed counsel. RP 7.

Citing State v. Blazina, 182 Wn.2d 827, 344 P.3d 680 (2015), the Honorable Elizabeth Martin found that Gonzales's indigency warranted waiving the costs of appointed counsel. RP 7. Judge Martin indicated she was only imposing statutorily-required LFOs and, regarding the \$200 filing fee, stated "[t]his Court has taken the position that \$200 is statutorily required. I'm willing to listen to argument to the contrary. I think it's debatable." RP 8. Defense counsel objected to the fee. RP 8. The prosecutor expressed his belief that it was mandatory, to which Judge Martin responded, "as I say, we have – it's debatable, but I will impose it." RP 9.

Judge Martin ultimately imposed three LFOs she deemed mandatory – the \$200 filing fee, the \$500 crime victim penalty assessment, and the \$100 DNA database fee. RP 9; CP 41. Gonzales timely filed his Notice of Appeal. CP 60.

#### C. ARGUMENT

1. THE \$200 CRIMINAL FILING FEE IS A DISCRETIONARY LFO.

Trial courts may order payment of LFOs as part of a sentence. RCW 9.94A.760. However, RCW 10.01.160(3) forbids imposing discretionary LFOs unless "the defendant is or will be able to pay them." In determining LFOs, courts "shall take account of the financial resources of the defendant and the nature of the burden that payment of costs will impose." RCW 10.01.160(3); see also Blazina, 182 Wn.2d at 837-839 (requiring trial courts to consider an individual's current and future ability to pay before imposing discretionary LFOs).

Judge Martin complied with her obligations under RCW 10.01.160 and Blazina, determining that Gonzales should only be responsible for mandatory LFOs. She erred, however, in assuming criminal filing fees are mandatory. The nature of this fee is a question of statutory interpretation, which this Court reviews de novo. State v. Moon, 124 Wn. App. 190, 193, 100 P.3d 357 (2004) (citing State v. Thompson, 151 Wn.2d 793, 801, 92 P.3d 228 (2004)).

RCW 36.18.020 provides:

<u>Upon conviction</u> or plea of guilty, upon failure to prosecute an appeal from a court of limited

jurisdiction as provided by law, or upon affirmance of a conviction by a court of limited jurisdiction, an adult defendant in a criminal case shall be liable for a fee of two hundred dollars.

RCW 36.18.020(2)(h) (emphasis added).

In State v. Lundy, 176 Wn. App. 96, 102-103, 308 P.3d 755 (2013), this Court found that criminal filing fees are mandatory, leaving sentencing courts without discretion to waive them based on a defendant's established poverty. But the Lundy court provided no rationale and no analysis of the language of RCW 36.18.020(2)(h). See id.; see also State v. Stoddard, 192 Wn. App. 222, 225, 366 P.3d 474 (2016) (without statutory analysis, Division Three merely cites Lundy for assertion filing fee must be imposed regardless of indigency).

The language of RCW 36.18.020(2)(h) is markedly different from that in statutes imposing mandatory fees. The Victim's Penalty Assessment (VPA) is recognized as a mandatory fee, with its authorizing statute providing: "When any person is found guilty in any superior court of having committed a crime . . . there shall be imposed by the court upon such convicted person a penalty assessment." RCW 7.68.035 (emphasis added). The statute is unambiguous in its command that such a fee shall be imposed.

Likewise, the mandatory nature of the DNA-collection fee statute is also unambiguous, stating: "Every sentence imposed for a crime specified in RCW 43.43.754 must include a fee of one hundred dollars." RCW 43.43.7541 (emphasis added).

In contrast, RCW 36.18.020(2)(h) does not directly set forth a mandatory fee, providing only that: "Upon conviction ... an adult defendant in a criminal case shall be liable for a fee of two hundred dollars." Emphasis added. Despite the fact the Legislature clearly knows how to create an unambiguous mandatory fee, which absolutely must be included in a sentence, it did not do so in this statute. RCW 36.18.020(2)(h) does not say that every sentence must include the fee or that judges may not waive the fee.

Indeed, the Washington Supreme Court's recent decision in State v. Duncan, \_\_\_ P.3d \_\_\_, 2106 WL 1696698 (April 28, 2016) acknowledges the different language found in RCW 36.18.020(2)(h). Discussing LFOs, the <u>Duncan Court made</u> the following observation:

We recognize that the legislature has designated some of these fees as mandatory. *E.g.*, RCW 7.68.035 (victim assessment); RCW 43.43.7541 (DNA (deoxyribonucleic acid) collection fee); RCW 10.82.090(2)(d) (effectively making the principal on restitution mandatory). Others have been treated as mandatory by the Court of Appeals, *State v. Lundy*,

176 Wn. App. 96, 102, 308 P.3d 755 (2013) (holding that the filing fee imposed by RCW 36.18.020(2)(h) is mandatory and courts have no discretion to consider the offender's ability to pay). . . .

Duncan, at \*2 n.3 (underlined emphasis added). That the Court would identify those fees designated as mandatory by the Legislature, on the one hand, and then separately identify the criminal filing fee as one that has merely been *treated* as mandatory, on the other, indicates an identified distinction.

By directing only that the defendant be "liable" for the criminal filing fee, the Legislature did not create a mandatory fee in RCW 36.18.020(2)(h). Blacks Law Dictionary recognizes the term "liable" encompasses a broad range of possibilities -- from making a person "obligated" in law to imposing on a person a "future possible or probable happening that may not occur." Blacks Law Dictionary 915 (6th ed. 1990). Thus, "liable" can mean a situation from which a legal liability *might* arise. At best, RCW 36.19.020(2)(h) is ambiguous and, under the rule of lenity, its language must be interpreted in Gonzales's favor. State v. Jacobs, 154 Wn.2d 596, 601, 115 P.3d 281, 283 (2005).

This Court should hold the criminal filing fee is to be treated as a discretionary LFO and remand so that the \$200 fee can be

stricken from Gonzales's judgment and sentence.

#### 2. APPEAL COSTS SHOULD NOT BE IMPOSED.

Judge Martin properly found Gonzales, who is unemployed, to be indigent, unable to pay any costs for appointed counsel at trial, and entitled to appeal at public expense. CP 61-62; RP 7. Gonzales's prospects for paying the costs of litigation in this Court are no better than they were in Superior Court. Therefore, if he does not prevail on appeal, he asks that no costs of appeal be authorized under title 14 RAP. See State v. Sinclair, 192 Wn. App. 380, 389-390, 367 P.3d 612 (2016) (instructing defendants on appeal to make this argument in their opening briefs).

RCW 10.73.160(1) states the "court of appeals . . . may require an adult . . . to pay appellate costs." (Emphasis added.) "[T]he word 'may' has a permissive or discretionary meaning." Staats v. Brown, 139 Wn.2d 757, 789, 991 P.2d 615 (2000). Thus, this Court has ample discretion to deny the State's request for costs. Under Blazina, Judge Martin made an individualized finding, based on Gonzales's circumstances, that he had no ability to pay for appointed counsel at trial. RP 7. There is no basis for a contrary finding concerning the costs associated with this appeal.

### D. CONCLUSION

Gonzales respectfully asks this Court to strike the \$200 criminal filing fee from his judgment and sentence. Assuming the State prevails on appeal and seeks reimbursement for appellate costs, this Court should deny the State's request.