**NO. 48437-4-II**

---

---

**COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II  
STATE OF WASHINGTON**

**STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT**

**v.**

**MANUEL ANTONIO GONZALES, APPELLANT**

---

**Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County  
The Honorable Elizabeth Martin, Judge**

**No. 15-1-00252-1**

---

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

**MARK LINDQUIST  
Prosecuting Attorney**

**By  
THOMAS C. ROBERTS  
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney  
WSB # 17442**

930 Tacoma Avenue South  
Room 946  
Tacoma, WA 98402  
PH: (253) 798-7400

**

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

On January 20, 2015, Manuel A. Gonzales ("defendant") was charged by Information of two counts of assault in the third degree (Count I, II), one count of obstructing a law enforcement officer (Count III), and one count of resisting arrest (Count IV). CP 1-2. On September 23, 2015, one count of bail jumping (Count V) was added by Amended Information. CP 5-7. Following a jury trial, defendant was found not guilty on Counts I and II and guilty on the remaining Counts III-V. CP 34-38.

On Count III, defendant was sentenced to 364 days with credit for time served with the balanced suspended. 6RP 7. On Count IV, he was sentenced to 90 days with credit for time served and the remaining days suspended. 6RP 8. On Count V defendant was given a first time offender waiver and sentenced to 26 days of credit for time served with no additional time. 6RP 8.

The court waived all discretionary legal financial obligations (LFOs) based on an assessment of defendant's financial circumstances. 6RP 7-8. The court imposed mandatory LFOs including \$500 for a crime victim compensation penalty, \$200 in a criminal filing fee, and \$100 for DNA test. 6RP 9.

C. ARGUMENT.

1. THE COURT WAIVED DEFENDANT'S DISCRETIONARY LEGAL FINANCIAL OBLIGATIONS AND ONLY IMPOSED MANDATORY FEES, INCLUDING A \$200 CRIMINAL FILING FEE.

A court must impose certain mandatory fees on a convicted defendant, including a victim penalty assessment, DNA collection fee, and a criminal filing fee. RCW 7.68.035; RCW 43.43.7541; RCW 36.18.020. Additionally, the court can use its discretion to order the defendant to pay other fees to recoup court costs based on an individualized assessment of the defendant's ability to pay the discretionary fees. RCW 10.01.160. No such inquiry is required for the mandatory fees, which are uniformly imposed by statute and do not take into account a defendant's financial situation. *State v. Lundy*, 176 Wn. App. 96, 102, 308 P.3d 755 (2013). Defendant was not ordered to pay any discretionary LFOs. 6RP 7-8.

The question of whether LFOs were properly imposed is controlled by the clearly erroneous standard. *Lundy*, 176 Wn. App. at 105. A decision by the trial court "is presumed to be correct and should be sustained absent

an affirmative showing of error." *State v. Wade*, 138 Wn.2d 460, 464, 979 P.2d 850 (1999). The party presenting an issue for review has the burden of proof. RAP 9.2(b); *State v. Sisouvanh*, 175 Wn.2d 607, 619, 290 P.3d 942 (2012). If the appellant fails to meet this burden, the trial decision stands. *State v. Tracy*, 128 Wn. App. 388, 294-95, 115 P.3d 381 (2005), *aff'd*, 158 Wn.2d 683, 147 P.3d 559 (2006). Therefore, the defendant has the burden of showing the trial court judge improperly exercised his discretion by showing an affirmative error.

The trial court only assigned mandatory LFO and waived all discretionary LFOs based on defendant's financial circumstances. CP 41. The imposition of mandatory LFOs falls well short of the clearly erroneous standard required to disturb the trial court ruling because mandatory LFOs are imposed uniformly based on statute. *Lundy*, 176 Wn. App at 102, 105. Therefore, the trial court properly imposed all mandatory LFOs to include the \$200 criminal filing fee challenged by defendant.

Defendant's claim that the assigned criminal filing fee is a discretionary LFO is without merit. The criminal filing fee is made mandatory by clear, plain, unambiguous statutory language that does not require statutory interpretation. Plain words do not require statutory interpretation and courts assume the Legislature means exactly what it writes in statutes. *State v. McCraw*, 127 Wn.2d 281, 288, 898 P.2d 838 (1995). A plain and unambiguous statute must be read from the wording of the statute itself. *State v. Tili*, 139 Wn.2d 107, 115, 985 P.2d 365

(1999). A statute is not ambiguous “simply because different interpretations are conceivable.” *Id.* Courts are not required to “discern an ambiguity by imagining a variety of alternative interpretations.” *Western Telepage, Inc. v. City of Tacoma Dept. of Financing*, 140 Wn.2d 599, 609, 998 P.2d 884 (2000). Courts look to a dictionary to define terms not otherwise defined in the statute. *State v. Pacheco*, 125 Wn.2d 150, 154, 882 P.2d 183 (1994).

The language of RCW 36.18.020(2) is unambiguous and plainly establishes a \$200 criminal filing fee as a mandatory consequence following the conviction of any adult criminal defendant. The statute reads “Clerks of superior courts shall collect the following fees.” RCW 36.18.020(2). Among the circumstance when the clerk shall collect fess is “Upon conviction...an adult defendant in a criminal case *shall be liable* for a fee of two hundred dollars.” RCW 36.18.020(2)(h) (emphasis added). The language of the statute is plain and not subject to statutory interpretation.

Shall is “used in laws, regulations, or directives to express what is mandatory” and “to express what is inevitable or what seems to be...decreed...to happen in the future.” *Shall*, Webster’s Third New International Dictionary, Unabridged (2002). Shall also creates a mandatory duty or requirement to perform a task. *Shall*, Black’s Law Dictionary (8<sup>th</sup> ed. 2004). To be liable means “responsible or answerable in law; legally obligated.” *Liable*, Black’s Law Dictionary (8<sup>th</sup> ed. 2004).



The “shall be liable” language in the statute plainly and clearly obliges an adult criminal defendant to pay a \$200 criminal filing fee following his conviction. RCW 36.18.020(2)(h). The clerk “shall collect” this fee, again indicate a mandatory collection by the clerk. RCW 36.18.020(2). The language contains no ambiguities that require statutory interpretation. Courts have consistently agreed the criminal filing fee is mandatory. *See e.g., State v. Kuster*, 175 Wn. App. 420, 425, 306 P.3d 1022 (2013); *State v. Blazina*, 174 Wn. App. 906, 911, 301 P.3d 492 (2015), footnote 3 (remanded on other grounds); *State v. Lundy*, 176 Wn. App. 96, 103, 308 P.3d 755, 759 (2013); *State v. Clark*, 191 Wn. App. 369, 373, 362 P.3d 309, 311 (2015).

The trial court properly imposed the \$200 criminal filing fee because it is a mandatory LFO required to be imposed by statute. Defendant has failed to show the trial court’s imposition of this statutorily mandatory fee was clearly erroneous. Therefore, this Court should affirm the decision below.

2. THE STATE HAS NOT REQUESTED AN AWARD OF APPELLATE COSTS AND THIS COURT HAS THE DISCRETION TO AWARD THEM IF A COST BILL IS FILED.

The State has not yet requested an award of appellate costs. The State agrees with defendant that this court has the discretion to grant or deny a request for appellate costs once a cost bill has been filed. *State v. Nolan*,